SUPPLEME COURT COPY

Case No. S174475

SUPREME COURT

OCT 9 - 2009

IN THE SUPREME COURT Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

SONIC-CALABASAS A, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

FRANK MORENO,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Case No. B204902, Second Appellate District, Division Four

Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Case No. BS107161, Honorable Aurelio N. Munoz, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MILES E. LOCKER, State Bar No. 103510 RACHEL FOLBERG, State Bar No. 209143

LOCKER FOLBERG LLP

235 Montgomery Street, Suite 835

San Francisco, CA 94104

Telephone: (415)962-1626

Facsimile: (415)962-1628

ISSUES GRANTED REVIEW

- (1) Whether a mandatory employment arbitration agreement can be enforced prior to the conclusion of an administrative proceeding conducted by the Labor Commissioner concerning an employee's statutory wage claim.
- (2) Whether the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction over an employee's statutory wage claim is divested by the Federal Arbitration Act under *Preston v. Ferrer* (2008) ____ U.S. ____, 128 S.Ct. 978, 169 L.Ed.2d 917.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In recent years, an increasing number of employers have required employees to sign pre-dispute arbitration agreements in order to be hired or remain employed. The body of controlling case law makes clear that these mandatory arbitration agreements are enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §1, et seq.), save upon such grounds as exist for the revocation of any contract. In *Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, this Court held that employee claims to enforce unwaivable statutory rights are arbitrable provided the arbitration agreement permits an employee to vindicate his or her statutory rights. Arbitration must be disallowed if it would "in fact

compel claimants to forfeit certain substantive rights." (*Id.* at pp. 99-100.)

To ensure that these substantive rights are not forfeited, and that the employee can vindicate non-waivable statutory rights in the arbitral forum, arbitration must meet certain minimum requirements, among which: (1) the arbitration agreement cannot limit the remedies that would otherwise be available to enforce the statutory right, and (2) the arbitration agreement cannot impose costs exceeding those that the employee would normally incur in a court proceeding.

In *Gentry v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 443, 463, this Court observed that "*Armendariz* makes clear that for public policy reasons we will not enforce provisions contained within arbitration agreements that pose significant obstacles to the vindication of employees' statutory rights."

In this case, we are confronted with a mandatory arbitration agreement that purports to waive the employee's right to have wage claims heard by the State Labor Commissioner. The process whereby the Labor Commissioner holds wage adjudication hearings - the Berman hearing procedure (Labor Code §98 et seq.) - "is designed to provide a speedy, informal and affordable method of resolving wage claims." (*Cuadra v. Millan* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 855, 858-859; *Post v. Palo/Haklar & Associates* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 942, 947; *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.*

(2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1115.) Typically these are claims for relatively modest amounts. This Court has previously noted that during the period from 2000 to 2005, the average Berman hearing award was just \$6,038. (*Gentry, supra,* 42 Cal.4th at p. 458.) Also, typically, the employees filing these claims lack the financial resources to hire private counsel.¹

The Berman process was established precisely to provide such employees with a means of pursuing their claims – and a means of continuing to pursue their claims if the employer avails itself of the right to file a de novo appeal from a Labor Commissioner order, decision or award in the employee's favor, providing such employees with essential remedies and remedial tools to enforce their rights in the de novo arena.

These remedies and remedial tools include one way attorney fee shifting under Labor Code § 98.2(c), the right to an attorney appointed by the Labor Commissioner to represent the claimant in the de novo proceedings pursuant to Labor Code § 98.4, the right to interpreter services pursuant to Labor Code §105(b), and the requirement that the employer post

¹ According to former Division of Labor Standards Enforcment ("DLSE") chief counsels Anne P. Stevason and H. Thomas Cadell, Jr., over 90% of the wage claimants in Berman *de novo* proceedings filed by employers qualify for legal representation by DLSE under Labor Code § 98.4, under which such representation is provided to "a claimant financially unable to afford counsel." (Stevason and Cadell, Amicus Letter In Support of Petition for Review, filed August 7, 2009, p. 5.)

an undertaking in the amount of the Labor Commissioner's award pursuant to Labor Code § 98.2(b). Enforcement of a "Berman waiver" contained in a mandatory arbitration agreement necessarily deprives the employee of these essential remedies and remedial tools.

Applying the principles set out in *Armendariz*, it is our contention that a Berman waiver cannot ever be enforced to defeat an employee's right to have a statutory wage claim heard and decided by the Labor Commissioner. First, the Berman waiver operates to deprive wage claimants of substantive remedies that would otherwise be available to enable the employee to enforce statutory rights. Enforcement of the Berman waiver results in a forfeiture of the remedy of one way fee shifting provided by Labor Code § 98.2(c), and the remedy of a required employer undertaking under Labor Code § 98.2(b). Enforcement of the Berman waiver also forces the employee to bear the cost of obtaining counsel that is typically provided at no cost pursuant to Labor Code § 94, not to mention the cost of an interpreter that is otherwise provided at no cost under Labor Code § 105(b). The Berman waiver thus does exactly what Armendariz prohibits: 1) it limits the remedies that would otherwise be available to enforce employees' statutory rights, and (2) it imposes costs exceeding those that the employee would normally incur. For these reasons alone, the

Berman waiver is unenforceable.

Moreover, the deprivation of these remedies and remedial tools will almost invariably pose significant obstacles to the vindication of employees' statutory rights. The overwhelming majority of wage claimants are low or moderate income workers with small to medium sized wage claims. They cannot afford private counsel, and the small amounts at issue will discourage private counsel from providing representation on a contingency basis. Many of these wage claimants will weigh the risks of proceeding without one-way fee shifting, and will conclude that the risk of exposure for the employer's attorney's fees militates against proceeding with their small wage claims.² Others will press forward, representing themselves against employers well represented by counsel in arbitration proceedings that are potentially every bit as complex as court proceedings.³

² Absent one-way fee shifting pursuant to Labor Code § 98.2(c), employees with statutory vacation pay claims under Labor Code § 227.3, meal and rest period premium pay claims under section 226.7, and claims for reimbursement of unlawful wage deductions under sections 221-224 will be subject to the bilateral attorney's fee provisions of Labor Code § 218.5.

³ For example, the arbitration agreement at issue in this proceeding provides for arbitral procedures that would pose an insurmountable challenge to virtually any unrepresented wage claimant. The agreement states: "To the extent applicable in civil actions in California courts, the following shall apply and be observed: all rules of pleading (including the right of demurrer), all rules of evidence, all rights to resolution of the dispute by means of motion for summary judgment, judgment on the pleadings, and judgment under CCP § 631.8." (Clerk's Transcript, hereinafter "CT":9)

It is to deny reality to suggest that all that is going on here is the substitution of one adjudicatory forum for another. The Berman waiver carries with it a deprivation of remedies and remedial tools that are essential for the vindication of employees' statutory rights in either the judicial and the arbitral forum. Our quarrel here is not with arbitration as an institution, but rather with provisions that happen to be contained within a mandatory, pre-dispute arbitration agreement that have the effect (an effect that one must suspect was intended by the drafter of the agreement) of extracting a de facto waiver of employees' unwaivable statutory rights, by depriving employees of essential remedies and remedial tools for the vindication of those rights. To ensure that arbitration is not used a vehicle for depriving employees of unwaivable statutory rights, it is necessary to categorically deny enforcement of Berman waivers. In short, arbitration of any statutory wage claim should not be enforced until the completion of the Labor Commissioner's administrative hearing process.

In the proceedings below, the Court of Appeal correctly ruled that Preston v. Ferrer is not dispositive, and should not be construed to mandate arbitration of unwaivable statutory claims in situations where the arbitration agreement contains provisions that violate public policy, and where the enforcement of those provisions would deprive employees of otherwise available remedies or impair the employees' ability to vindicate their unwaivable statutory rights. Preston did not raise or address any sort of Armendariz public policy defense to the enforcement of an arbitration agreement. It merely and unsurprisingly held that Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") preemption applies equally to judicial and administrative proceedings. (*Preston, supra,* 128 S.Ct. at p. 987.) Section 2 of the FAA makes clear that states have the power to invalidate arbitration contracts "upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract" and that is the basis upon which this Court has denied enforcement of provisions in arbitration agreements that violate public policy or that are unconscionable. Construing *Preston* to preempt the Labor Commissioner from exercising jurisdiction over a wage claim without regard to whether the arbitration agreement runs afoul of Armendariz would be tantamount to reading Section 2 out of the FAA. There is nothing whatsoever in *Preston* that suggests such a result.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Frank Moreno was employed by Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. (hereinafter "Sonic") at its automobile dealership in Los Angeles County, California. (Clerk's Transcript, hereinafter "CT": 6) On July 14, 2002, as a requirement of his employment, Moreno executed an agreement which

contained an arbitration clause. (CT: 7) The clause reads in relevant part as follows:

[B]oth the Company and I agree that any claim, dispute, and/or controversy...that either I or the Company may have against the other which would otherwise require or allow resort to any court or other governmental dispute resolution forum...shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, in conformity with the procedures of the California Arbitration Act. (CT: 9)

This arbitration agreement was required of all Sonic employees, and was a condition of Moreno's employment. (CT: 18-19)

After voluntarily leaving Sonic's employ on July 15, 2006, Moreno filed a claim for unpaid wages with the Labor Commissioner; specifically, Moreno asserted that Sonic had failed to pay him all of his accrued vacation pay to which he was entitled pursuant to Labor Code §227.3. (CT: 7)

On February 2, 2007, Sonic responded to Moreno's claim by filing a petition to compel arbitration with the Los Angeles County Superior Court. (CT: 6-9). Contending that Moreno was required to arbitrate his claim pursuant to the parties' arbitration agreement, Sonic asked the court to issue an order (1) compelling Moreno to arbitrate his claim, and (2) directing him to dismiss the wage claim he had filed with the Labor Commissioner. (CT:

The parties subsequently submitted a joint stipulation for an order

8)

authorizing the Labor Commissioner to intervene in the proceeding and file a response to the petition; the order authorizing this intervention was signed and entered on March 9, 2007. (CT: 35-38) Moreno and the Labor Commissioner filed their response to the petition on May 15, 2007. (CT: 40-44; 69-73) Moreno's response, as well as the Commissioner's, asserted (1) that under Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, Moreno was entitled to an arbitral forum in which he could fully and effectively vindicate his statutory wage rights, (2) that he would be denied such a forum if the arbitration agreement prohibited him from initially resorting to the nonbinding administrative remedy afforded by the Labor Commissioner, (3) that properly construed in accordance with California law the agreement should be read to permit him to initially resort to the Commissioner's remedy, and (4) that, although Sonic had a right to compel arbitration, the right would not arise until after the Labor Commissioner issued a nonbinding Berman decision and either party filed a de novo appeal, at which point Sonic would be entitled to a de novo determination through arbitration. (CT: 42-43; 71-72)

The petition was argued on October 16, 2007 (RT: 81-83), and on November 2, 2007 the court entered its order denying the petition as premature (CT: 375-376). Specifically, the court found that Moreno was

entitled to a preliminary nonbinding hearing and decision by the Labor Commissioner, and that thereafter, if either party filed a *de novo* appeal from the Commissioner's decision, Sonic was entitled to invoke the right to arbitrate. (CT: 376) On December 31, 2007, Sonic filed its appeal from that order to the Court of Appeal. (CT: 382).

In proceedings before the Court of Appeal, Sonic argued that any "attempt to assert the jurisdiction of the Labor Commissioner runs afoul of the Federal Arbitration Act and its preemption of state law requirements that would restrict (or delay) the enforcement of arbitration agreements." (Appellant's Opening Brief, hereinafter "AOB," p. 2) Sonic also argued that the recent U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Preston v. Ferrer, supra*, 128 S.Ct. 978, mandates reversal of the trial court's order denying the petition to compel arbitration. (AOB, p. 2)

On May 29, 2009, the Court of Appeal issued a published decision, holding that *Preston* does not compel the conclusion that the Labor Commissioner's jurisdiction over Moreno's statutory wage claim was preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act. The Court of Appeal also held that the right to vacation pay is an unwaivable statutory right founded upon Labor Code §227.3, and thus, a claim for vacation pay is subject to *Armendariz*. Nonetheless, the Court held that a pre-dispute "Berman

waiver" contained in an arbitration agreement is not necessarily unenforceable under the public policy grounds enunciated in Armendariz, and that such a Berman waiver is enforceable absent specific evidence of factors unique to the wage claimant or the arbitration agreement that render the arbitral forum inadequate for vindicating the wage claimant's nonwaivable statutory rights. The Court concluded that the denial of the various remedies and remedial protections that flow from the Berman process – one way fee shifting under Labor Code §98.2(c), the right to appointed counsel under Labor Code §98.4, the employer undertaking required under Labor Code §98.2(b), and the right to interpreter services under Labor Code §105(b) – do not warrant a categorical rule denying enforcement of Berman waivers covering statutory wage claims, and that such waivers do not necessarily pose significant obstacles to the vindication of employees' statutory rights.

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order denying Sonic's petition to compel arbitration, and directed the trial court to enter a new order granting the petition and dismissing the administrative proceedings before the Labor Commissioner.

Moreno filed a timely petition for review. On September 9, 2009, review was granted.

DISCUSSION

I. Mandatory Employment Arbitration Agreements Cannot Be Enforced Prior to the Labor Commissioner's Conclusion of Administrative Proceedings on an Employee's Pending Statutory Wage Claim

The Court of Appeal decision sets out four reasons for its conclusion that *Armendariz* does not require the categorical denial of enforcement of a "Berman waiver" contained within a mandatory arbitration agreement.

None of these reasons withstand critical analysis. Each proffered reason misapplies *Armendariz* to the Berman process, and effectively eviscerates *Armendariz* as a source of protection to wage earners most in need of the Labor Commissioner's office and procedures as a vehicle for vindicating their statutory wage and hour rights.

A. The Court of Appeal Decision Subverts *Armendariz* By Holding That It Does Not Protect An Employee's "Contingent Rights"

The Court of Appeal is certainly correct when it states that the rights to one way fee shifting under Labor Code §98.2(c), to appointed counsel under Labor Code §98.4, and to an employer posted undertaking under Labor Code §98.2(b), "are only available *if and when* an employer appeals from an adverse administrative ruling." (Slip. Op. at 18.) But that is *precisely* why enforcement of a petition to compel arbitration is premature until the Berman process runs its course and the Labor Commissioner issues

an order, decision or award. Enforcing a Berman waiver by compelling arbitration during the pendency of an employee's Berman claim, and ordering dismissal of proceedings before the Labor Commissioner, ensures the employee will not prevail in the Berman proceedings, and thus, ensures the denial of the statutory protections available to an employee who prevails before the Labor Commissioner.

The Court of Appeal reasoned: "[1]t is impossible to determine whether Moreno will prevail at the administrative hearing. Accordingly, it is impossible to determine whether Moreno will lose any statutory protections if the Berman waiver is enforced." This reasoning reverses cause and effect. It is indeed impossible to predict whether an employee who filed a wage claim with the Labor Commissioner would have prevailed in that claim when the employer files, and the court grants a petition to compel arbitration before the Labor Commissioner has an opportunity to hear the wage claim and issue a ruling. Denial of the petition to compel arbitration until conclusion of the Berman proceedings makes predictions unnecessary, and allows the employee, if he or she prevails, to obtain the benefits of the remedial tools made available to an employee who prevails in the Berman process.

Armendariz and Gentry make plain that the fact that a critical remedy

may be contingent on other factors has no bearing on whether that remedy provides a substantially more effective way of vindicating an unwaivable statutory right, and thus, on whether an arbitration agreement will not be enforced if it purports to waive that remedy. For example, in Gentry the remedy at issue was the procedure of class arbitration of statutory wage claims. Class arbitration is of course contingent on meeting the "community of interest" prerequisites for maintaining a class action. Nonetheless, this Court had no trouble concluding that when class arbitration is a substantially more effective means of vindicating statutory rights, a class action waiver in an arbitration agreement will not be enforced. And the fact that the class action waiver is not enforced then allows the employees to prove that they satisfy the "community of interest" contingency. The "community of interest" contingency does not make the class action waiver enforceable, any more than the Berman prevailing party contingency should make a Berman waiver enforceable.

The contingent nature of the post-Berman rights available under Labor Code §98.2(b) and (c), and Labor Code §98.4, are wholly irrelevant to a determination of the enforceability of an arbitration provision that purports to waive those rights. By making the contingent nature of such rights a determinative factor in deciding whether to Berman waivers are

enforceable, the Court of Appeal weakens the protections provided by Armendariz and Gentry.

B. The Court of Appeal Decision Subverts Armendariz By Holding
That Because There Is No Statutory Authority Making the
Berman Protections Available In Arbitrations, These Protections
Are Only Available In De Novo Judicial Proceedings

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