# Supreme Court Copy

S174475

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

# SONIC-CALABASAS A, INC.,

SUPREME COURT

Plaintiff and Appellant,

DEC 09 2009

V.

Frederick K. Ontrich Clerk

# FRANK MORENO,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent

Following a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Case No. B204902 Second Appellate District, Division Four

Appeal from an Order of the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles Case No. BS107161, HON. AURELIO N. MUNOZ, Judge

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FINE, BOGGS & PERKINS LLP

David J. Reese (Bar No. 184682) John P. Boggs (Bar No. 172578) 2450 So. Cabrillo Hwy., Suite 100 Half Moon Bay, California 94019 (650) 712-8908 tel (650) 712-1712 fax

#### INTRODUCTION

Since August 2000, when the California Supreme Court issued its landmark decision in Armendariz, it has been settled law in this state that where a pre-dispute agreement to submit disputes between an employee and his or her employer to binding arbitration is entered into as a condition of employment, certain minimum standards of fairness must apply in the arbitration proceedings to ensure that unwaivable statutory rights are protected. (Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83.) Importantly, the Supreme Court in <u>Armendariz</u> did not seek to preclude arbitration of such disputes, but rather imposed minimum standards of fairness for the arbitration proceeding itself, trusting to the process to protect key rights. The California Supreme Court found this important enough to restate in no uncertain terms only a few years later: "The object of the Armendariz requirements, however, is not to compel the substitution of adjudication for arbitration, but rather to ensure minimum standards of fairness in arbitration so that employees subject to mandatory arbitration agreements can vindicate their public rights in an arbitral forum." (Little v. Auto Stiegler, Inc. ((2003) 29 Cal.4th 1064, 1080.)

To ensure this result, the California Supreme Court has made it clear that "when parties agree to arbitrate statutory claims, they also implicitly agree, absent express language to the contrary, to such procedures as are necessary to vindicate that claim." (Armendariz, supra, 24 Cal.4th at 105–6 [holding that agreement to arbitrate FEHA claims includes implied consent to "sufficient discovery as a means of vindicating"

civil rights claims]; see also Little, supra, 29 Cal.4th at 1084–85 [implied agreement by employer to cover costs unique to arbitration, where written agreement silent on cost allocation].) In some cases, the Supreme Court has even authorized the potential removal or modification of specific contractual language in order to ensure that nonwaivable public rights can be effectively vindicated in arbitration. (See Gentry v. Circuit City Stores, Inc. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 443, 466 [remand contemplating invalidation of class action waiver language from agreement, with parties proceeding to class arbitration despite express agreement language authorizing individual actions only].) But as it had confirmed years before in Little, the choice for the lower court was not whether the parties would arbitrate their dispute, but rather how the arbitration would proceed: "Of course, . . . the trial court would be comparing class arbitration with the individual arbitration methods the employer offers, rather than comparing individual with classwide litigation." (Gentry, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 464.)

In this case, Respondent Moreno entered into an agreement to submit disputes with his employer, Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. (hereinafter "Sonic"), to binding arbitration in plain and unequivocal language:

[B]oth [Sonic] and [Respondent] agree that any claim, dispute, and/or controversy... that either [Respondent] or [Sonic] may have against the other which would otherwise require or allow resort to any court or other governmental forum... shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, in conformity with the procedures of the California Arbitration Act.

(See CT 9; see also Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits, at p. 8.) Significantly, this is the same operative language as this Court addressed in <u>Little</u>, supra, 29 Cal.4th at 1069–70.) While the agreement goes on to

permit certain administrative proceedings for civil rights claims before the federal EEOC or state DFEH, there is no such exception to permit administrative proceedings before the Labor Commissioner. (CT 9.)

As such, the Court of Appeal found that the matter should proceed straight to arbitration, without the delay and expense of first proceeding an administrative adjudication before the Labor Commissioner. Respondent disagrees. Respondent would have the matter first submitted to the administrative jurisdiction of the California Labor Commissioner, Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, for a nonbinding adjudication prior to any arbitration proceedings. According to Respondent, this is the only way that employees can be assured that their nonwaivable right to the payment of wages can be protected. Specifically, Respondent argues that an agreement to bypass the Labor Commissioner would necessarily effect a de facto waiver of "essential remedies and remedial tools." (See Respondent's Opening Brief, at 1-4.) Ironically, in support of this conclusion, Respondent relies heavily on the Supreme Court's decision in Gentry v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., a decision that demonstrates the Court's confidence in arbitration by resolving the identified conflict between arbitration and individual employee rights by focusing on how the arbitration should proceed rather than whether it should proceed.

In <u>Gentry</u>, this Court was faced with an arbitration agreement that attempted to prevent employees from bringing representative claims in arbitration. "The Arbitrator shall not consolidate claims of different Associates into one proceeding, nor shall the Arbitrator have the power to hear arbitration as a class action. . . ." (*See Gentry, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 451.*) The Court described this as a "class arbitration waiver" provision.

(<u>Id.</u>) Seeking to draw unwarranted parallels between the agreement in this case and that from <u>Gentry</u>, Respondent advocates similar nomenclature, describing the parties' agreement that each would submit all claims to binding arbitration without permitting resort to any court or other governmental dispute resolution forum as a "Berman waiver."

But adopting a similar name cannot mask the stark difference in the result of the challenge to the language. In Gentry, whether the "class" arbitration waiver" provision were stricken or permitted to stand meant that the dispute would either be permitted to proceed to arbitration individually or to proceed to arbitration as a potential class action; in either case, arbitration remained the outcome. (See Gentry, supra,42 Cal.4th at 464.) In this case, whether the so-called "Berman waiver" is stricken or permitted to stand means that the dispute will either be permitted to proceed to arbitration or it will be required to proceed to adjudication before a state administrative agency. Because such an outcome shifts the focus from "how arbitration?" to "whether arbitration?", it would be fundamentally antithetical to the Federal Arbitration Act and the federal common law of arbitration as a dispute resolution method that is intended to remain unshackled by state hostility toward alternative dispute resolution, the distinction between the "class action waiver" and the so-called "Berman waiver" means the difference between an outcome that can be reconciled with the Federal Arbitration Act (as in Gentry) and an outcome that is barred by the preemptive effect of the Federal Arbitration Act and the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

But even if federal preemption did not mandate overturning the Superior Court's refusal to grant the petition to compel arbitration in every case, the Court of Appeal decision should be affirmed because Respondent has failed to show, based on the record, that the agreement as written is unenforceable for public policy reasons. Enforcement of the arbitration agreement would not, as Respondent maintains, subvert this Court's protection of unwaivable statutory rights.

None of the features of the Berman Process trumpeted by Respondent as fundamental and unwaivable rights come close to meeting such a standard. And even if they did, federal and state policy favoring enforcement of arbitration agreements mandates that the Court craft a solution, as it has done in Gentry and Little, that focuses on how to make arbitration work for the affected parties, rather than on subverting the parties' written agreement to submit to binding arbitration. For example, Respondent argues that a one-way fee-shifting provision in the Berman Process (Labor Code section 98.2(c)) is necessary to ensure that vulnerable employees are not afraid to seek enforcement of their right to wages. But the Labor Code already includes asymmetrical fee-shifting treatment for wage claims. For example, under Section 1194, fee-shifting is only available in favor of an employee who successfully brings an action for unpaid minimum wages or overtime premiums; an employer who successfully defends such claims has no such option. And Respondent's claim that the Berman Process equips claimants with a trained DLSE attorney to help them protect a favorable award against further review does not withstand scrutiny. Not only does such a "right" only ever become operative if the employee is successful initially, and if the claim is appealed, but it also requires that the employee in question meet financial need requirements to be considered for appointed counsel. (See Labor Code § 98.4.) In this case, Respondent Moreno made well over \$120,000 per year in his position, which he voluntarily resigned to take another position;

there has not even been an attempt to show on the record whether and how he might have qualified under Section 98.4 for no-cost representation.<sup>1</sup>

In his Brief on the Merits, Respondent suggests that by refusing to permit the state agency to exercise its administrative jurisdiction over the parties' claim, the Court of Appeal decision weakens the decisions in Armendariz and Gentry and their protection of unwaivable statutory public rights, such as the right to vacation wages that is at issue between Respondent and his former employer. But the extensive reliance by the Court of Appeal on Armendariz and Gentry in reaching the result below confirms the reverence for and fidelity to those decisions. After all, the Court of Appeal did below what this Court did in Armendariz and Gentry: it evaluated whether the employee's fundamental public rights would be trampled by enforcement of the arbitration agreement and remanded the case with instructions to send the dispute to arbitration with procedures that

Indeed, the only attempt to address this gaping hole in Respondent's argument is found in footnote 1 of Respondent's Opening Brief, where Respondent relies on an unsubstantiated assertion in an Amicus Letter supporting the Petition for Review in this action. Respondent relies on this letter for the factual proposition that "over 90% of the wage claimants in Berman de novo proceedings filed by employers qualify for legal representation by DLSE under Labor Code § 98.4...." First, it is improper for Respondent to seek to augment the record with such an unsubstantiated assertion. (See Professional Engineers in California Government v. Kempton (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, 1047 [improper to attempt to expand the appellate record through amicus papers].) Second, Respondent has misrepresented even the contents of the Amicus Letter. What Amicus stated—in a parenthetical, no less—was that "(over 90% of all employees who request counsel are provided counsel)". There is no attempt to provide background on this assertion (e.g., What percentage of employees request counsel? What is the cut-off for financial need under Section 98.4?), making this statistical assertion entirely unreliable.

the court had concluded would be adequate to protect Respondent's fundamental rights.

To the extent that the Court of Appeal decision may weaken key precedential decisions, Appellant submits that it is the U.S. Supreme Court decision in <a href="Preston v. Ferrer">Preston v. Ferrer</a> to which the Court of Appeal failed to pay sufficient attention. ((2008) 552 U.S. 346, 128 S.Ct. 978.) In <a href="Preston">Preston</a>, the U.S. Supreme Court referred to the supremacy of the Federal Arbitration Act and held, in no uncertain terms, that "when parties agree to arbitrate all questions arising under a contract, state laws lodging primary jurisdiction in another forum, whether judicial or administrative, are superseded by the FAA." (<a href="Preston">Preston</a>, supra, 552 U.S. at 346, \_\_\_\_\_\_, 128 S.Ct. at 981 [emphasis added].) Respondent's position—that California law can require a litigant to first proceed to a state-created administrative adjudication before it can enforce an arbitration agreement under the FAA—is inconsistent with <a href="Preston">Preston</a> and the significant body of federal and state authorities that recognize that such state laws hostile to arbitration are preempted by the FAA and the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

While recognizing the breadth of the <u>Preston</u> decision, the Court of Appeal refused to endorse <u>Preston</u>'s blanket rejection of administrative jurisdiction over a claim to which an arbitration agreement applies. Instead, the court attempted to distinguish <u>Preston</u> as a case in which there had been no effort made to show that the arbitration provisions were unenforceable because of a generally applicable contract defense, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability. But this analysis ignores the undeniable similarity in the results sought in both cases by the parties seeking to avoid arbitration. In both <u>Preston</u> and the case at bar, the courts were asked whether administrative jurisdiction could survive preemption.

The <u>Preston</u> court held as a matter of law that it could not. The Court of Appeal in this case was not willing to echo that definitive holding. Under the clear language of <u>Preston</u> and its progenitors, such as <u>Perry v. Thomas</u> ((1987) 482 U.S. 483, 498 [California statute purporting to preserve judicial jurisdiction notwithstanding arbitration preempted]), the question of whether the parties could be required to proceed before the Labor Commissioner should have been answered with a simple "No."

To the extent that the Court of Appeal properly identified a distinction between the arguments presented in this case and the allegations in Preston, it impermissibly evaluated Respondent's proposed "fundamental unwaivable rights" as a question of forum, rather than form. The Court of Appeal should not have cast its analysis in Part IV of the published opinion below as a question of whether the involvement of the Labor Commissioner's forum was needed to ensure that fundamental rights were vindicated, but as a question of whether those procedural features argued by Respondent to be fundamental must be included by implication in the arbitration proceeding. That was the analysis of Armendariz and Little, which found discovery and fee-allocation rights to be included by implication in the parties' arbitration agreements. And it was the analysis in Gentry, where the Court reshaped the arbitration procedures rather than scrap arbitration altogether. Again, the Supreme Court's focus here should be as it was in <u>Little</u> and in <u>Gentry</u>: concerns about protection of fundamental rights should be addressed in *how* the arbitration proceeding can proceed rather than whether the dispute may go forward in arbitration.

Having chosen to review the decision below, this Court should take the opportunity to reiterate the definitive language of the U.S. Supreme Court that state entities are not permitted to exert administrative

jurisdiction over the adjudication of claims to which an arbitration agreement under the FAA applies. This Court should expressly adopt the key holding of <u>Preston</u> and confirm that FAA preemption requires that the claim proceed to binding arbitration. And it should confirm the conclusion of the Court of Appeal below that the purported fundamental, unwaivable public rights that Respondent believes would be trampled were the case to proceed to arbitration are not, in fact, as fundamental as Respondent would have the Court believe, and—even if they were so critical to the vindication of his claims—they should be grafted in as part of the arbitration procedures rather than serve as an excuse to carve out jurisdiction for the Labor Commissioner in direct contravention of the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Preston v. Ferrer.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

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